Case No

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERICA TYNE, BILLY-JO FRANCIS TYNE, individually, ERICA TYNE and BILLY-JO FRANCIS TYNE on behalf of decedent FRANK WILLIAM "BILLY" TYNE, JR., DEBRA J. TIGUE, individually, DALE R. MURPHY, JR., a minor, individually and on behalf of decedent DALE R. MURPHY, by and through his next of kin and guardian, JERILYNN M. AMRHEIN, and DOUGLAS EDWARD KOSKO, individually. Plaintiffs/Movants,

v.

TIME WARNER ENTERTAINMENT CO., L.P., d/b/a WARNER BROS. PICTURES, a Delaware limited partnership, BALTIMORE/SPRING CREEK PICTURES, L.L.C, a Delaware limited liability company, and RADIANT PRODUCTIONS, INC., a Delaware corporation. Defendants/Respondents

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs/Movants Erica Tyne, Billie-Jo Tyne, Dale R. Murphy, Jr., Debra Tigue and Douglas Kosko in their individual capacities and, with regard to Plaintiffs/Movants Erica Tyne, Billie-Jo Tyne, and Dale R. Murphy, Jr., in their additional capacities as the surviving children of decedent Frank William "Billy" Tyne, Jr. ("Tyne") and decedent Dale R. Murphy ("Murphy"), respectively, (collectively "Plaintiffs" or "Movants") commenced an action for commercial misappropriation and invasion of privacy against Defendants Time Warner Entertainment Co., L.P., d/b/a Warner Bros. Pictures, Baltimore/Spring Creek Pictures, L.L.C. and Radiant Productions, Inc. (collectively "Warner").

Decedents Tyne and Murphy were aboard the commercial fishing vessel, Andrea Gail, which was lost at sea during a violent storm in late October, 1991. Their saga and that of their families was portrayed in a motion picture by Warner entitled, The Perfect Storm ("Picture" or "film").

This diversity action was filed in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida and was brought pursuant to Section 540.08, Fla. Stat. and the common law of Florida. The Tyne and Murphy children filed a count of statutory misappropriation on behalf of their respective decedent fathers. The Tyne children had also alleged invasion of their own privacy arising from the false light depiction of

their father which is not at issue here.

The Second Amended Complaint (Doc. 133)¹ ("Complaint") alleged that the Picture was falsely held out by Warner as a true story and not a work of fiction (Doc. 133, pars. 27-28).² The Complaint alleged that the Picture was a fictionalization of the actual facts and was infected with material and substantial falsity, all of which was undertaken by Warner knowingly or in reckless disregard of the truth (Doc. 133, pars. 29-31). Accordingly, Plaintiffs contended that the Picture fell outside of the protection of the First Amendment (Doc. 133, pars. 44-45). It is undisputed that Plaintiffs did not provide consent for the use of their names or likenesses as required by Section 540.08 (Docs. 133 and 136, pars. 35; 37-40). It is also undisputed that other persons depicted in the Picture either consented to use of their names or likenesses or had their actual names changed. (Docs. 133 and 136, par. 42).

Both sides agreed that the Picture earned Warner gross revenues in excess of

¹ "Doc." refers to the original document number assigned by the federal district court and noted on the docket sheet, which is set forth in Appellants' Record Excerpts filed in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals and transmitted to this Court on July 9, 2003. Where appropriate, specific page or paragraph numbers are also used.

²The Second Amended Complaint is in all respects identical to its predecessor save the demand for punitive damages for which leave was granted on April 9, 2002 (Doc. 132). The Complaint was originally amended on October 16, 2000 as a matter of right (Doc. 6).

\$150,000,000 (Docs.133 and 136, par. 48). According to Plaintiffs' theory, the Picture and its marketing and distribution represent activity which had a commercial purpose and the use of the names, depictions or other likenesses of Plaintiffs in furtherance of such commercial purpose, without their express consent, was a prima facie violation of Section 540.08 (Doc. 133, par. 45). The Complaint alleged that the Picture did not fall within the newsworthy exemption of Section 540.08(3)(a) or, alternatively, that such exemption was forfeited given Warner's calculated and undisclosed fictionalization (Doc. 133, pars. 43, 45).

On November 20, 2000, Warner moved to dismiss the Complaint (Doc. 9). On June 1, 2001, the district court denied Warner's motion stating, "[t]he issues presented in the Motion are more appropriately addressed at the Summary Judgment stage" (Doc. 47).

On January 28, 2002, after the close of discovery, Warner moved for summary judgment on the same grounds previously advanced in its earlier unsuccessful motion to dismiss (Docs. 76-78). On that date, Plaintiffs moved to amend the Complaint to add a demand for punitive damages pursuant to Section 768.72, Fla. Stat. (Doc. 97). After reviewing the proffer of evidence in support of punitive damages, the trial court found the evidence to be sufficient and granted the amendment on April 9, 2002 (Doc.

132, p. 5). ³ On May 9, 2002, the trial court granted final summary judgment in favor of Warner on all counts (Docs.153, 154). Plaintiffs timely appealed. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals rendered its decision on July 9, 2003 and, at the express request of Plaintiffs, certified to this Court a question of law regarding the reach and scope of Section 540.08, Fla. Stat. This initial brief is filed pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.150 and within the mandated time for briefs under Fla. R. App. P. 9.150(d).

Statement of Facts

The Perfect Storm was a feature film produced and released in June of 2000, earning Warner revenues in excess of \$150,000,000 (Docs.133 and 136, par. 48). The film tells the story of the sinking of the Andrea Gail off the coast of New England during an horrific storm in October of 1991 (Docs.133 and 136, par.26). Six men died, including the ship's captain, Billy Tyne, who left behind two small daughters, now of college-age, both of whom are Movants herein (Docs. 133 and 136, pars. 5-7; 26). Decedent Murphy left behind his estranged wife, Debra Tigue, and a small son,

³The court found that Warner had improperly withheld approximately 170 documents in violation of Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(5) (Doc.58, p. 4; Doc.132, p. 4). Certain of those documents when later produced revealed that Warner had a policy requiring the obtaining of consent from persons depicted in the Picture after providing such persons with pages or a synopsis of the script reflecting their depiction. *See* January 16, 2002 hearing transcript, pp. 18 - 20 (Doc.142). Previously, Warner had denied such a policy existed. *See* Padrick Deposition at p. 20 (Doc.118).

Dale R. Murphy, Jr., who is still a minor (Docs. 133 and 136, pars. 10-12; 26). Both of these individuals are Movants herein. The remaining Movant is Douglas Kosko, who served with Tyne aboard the Andrea Gail up until its last voyage, narrowly escaping the fate of his former crew (Docs.133 and 136, pars. 14; 34).

The Perfect Storm was based on the widely acclaimed and nonfictionalized book of the same name by Sebastian Junger (Docs. 133 and 136, par. 24). However, as admitted in the depositions of the filmmakers excerpted below, substantial portions of the Picture were fictionalized. These individuals admitted that the fictionalization was not limited to merely those things which may have occurred after the Andrea Gail left port, but also included the fictionalization of numerous scenes, portrayals and dialogue which occurred on land and for which an accurate historic record existed. Consider the following:

Wolfgang Peterson, the film's Director and Executive Producer, testified as follows:

Q: ...You fictionalized the events and dialogue which took place on board the ship after it left port, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you fictionalize the character portrayals as they were revealed during that voyage?

A: ... I mean, the way characters speak defines the character. So yes.

Q: So if you fictionalize dialogue, then you fictionalize character portrayals, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you fictionalize anything that is reflected in the film prior to the men getting on board and leaving the dock for the last voyage?

A: Oh yeah. ... For example, the situation with Linda Greenlaw, that there was a little bit of a flirtatious situation, in a very subtle way, going on between the two of them. We added that. ...

Q: But she told you [referring to a letter Greenlaw had written] that she did not have the sort of relationship with Billy Tyne in reality that—as the relationship was portrayed in the film, correct?

A: That's correct.

• • •

Q: Now, in doing some of the fictionalization that you've acknowledged today, did you fictionalize, amongst other things, some of the motivations that shaped the action as it unfolds on the screen?

A: Yeah. For example, a very, very important thing for me was the decision when...they were forced to face the fact shall they now stay out there when the big storm is, so to speak, in their back or shall they really turn around and go through the storm—what they obviously did because they all died—and went for it.

So nobody knows what really happened. So again, I had to fictionalize that. [Emphasis added].

Peterson Deposition pp. 18-20; 31 (Doc. 116).

Peterson admitted to having "fictionalized the character portrayal of all of them, all six of them" [referring to the six deceased crew members] and, "to a lesser extent," Doug Kosko, but could not recall whether the dialogue between Tyne's character and Kosko's character, wherein Tyne derides and humiliates Kosko for giving up his site on the Andrea Gail's last voyage, had been entirely made up without any support in Junger's book. Deposition pp. 30; 51-53 (Doc. 116). [No such dialogue exists in the

book. See Exhibit 4, Debra Tigue Deposition (Doc. 79).]

Peterson admitted that the film's depiction of Tyne's earlier lack of commercial success [an early scene in the film which sets up the balance of the storyline] was contradicted by the facts revealed in Junger's book. Deposition pp. 43-46 (Doc. 116). Peterson also admitted that the scenes depicting "tension" and "animosity" between Tyne and his crew, wherein Tyne berates the crew for wanting to turn back, were entirely fabricated. Deposition pp. 55-58 (Doc. 116).

Peterson explained his unique view of "truth" as follows:

Q: So we can tell a greater truth if we exaggerate or distort the actual facts?

A: Absolutely, absolutely.

Q: History becomes just what you, as a filmmaker, choose it to be, in other words...correct?

A: This is not a documentary.... This is a motion picture, largely fictionalized, to tell a story about fishermen in Gloucester, Massachusetts...and how their life is, and not an accurate recreation and retelling of every single element of the story. Because if you do that-right?-you might have a story that is accurate but not dramatic... If you just go with the facts, very often-very, very often, you get a film that doesn't really get into your heart. ... Is it correct in every single detail? Of course not, because we had to-made up a lot of things. [Emphasis added].

• • •

Q: ...[T]o tell your story, with all the impact and power and passion that you speak of, requires that you make up facts?

A: Oh, yeah, of course, you know.

Q: And was the movie marketed as something that was largely

fictionalized, to use your term?

A: The way I remember, it was marketed as based on a true story.

• • •

Q: And would it surprise you, given that testimony, that Warner Bros. in this lawsuit has denied that there was any fictionalization of this movie?

. . .

A: If that's the case, it would surprise me.

Peterson Deposition pp. 70-74 (Doc. 116).

Co-Producer Gail Katz of Radiant Productions echoed those admissions:

Q: Would you agree that, in fact, you had to fictionalize some of what happened?

A: Yes.

Q: And did that fictionalization include events which took place even before they left the dock–for the last voyage?

A: Yes.

Katz Deposition p. 34 (Doc. 112).

Co-Producer Paula Weinstein of Baltimore Spring Creek Pictures also admitted to substantial fictionalization of the character portrayals:

Q:[Reading from deposition exhibit]. "Dramatic license was taken with almost every character, principal and secondary. Billy Tyne, Bobby Shatford, Chris Cotter and Linda Greenlaw, for example, are different on screen from what they were or are in real life."

Would you agree with that statement?

A: Mostly.

Weinstein Deposition p. 24 (Doc. 111).

Weinstein also admitted to manufacturing scenarios and motivations for Tyne's

actions which led to his and the crew's demise and which had no support in the historical record:

Q: Next bullet point [reading from deposition exhibit suggesting changes in the script]: "Perhaps the crew questions Billy's pushing of the envelope to bring in a bigger haul. However, once the crew finds the motherlode of swordfish, it should be clear that everyone is together and thrilled at the prospect of filling the hold."

Again, this is not taken from any historical account. That's simply how the plot should be developed in your opinion?

A: Yes.

Q:To further dramatic appeal and audience interest, correct?

A: Probably the former rather than anything at this stage.

. . .

Q: Next paragraph, "We think Billy should be a determined, capable captain whose lack of success in previous outings has created tremendous pressure on him to deliver the big haul." Do you remember discussing that point?

A: Yes.

Q: And would you agree that the film, even in its final cut, reflects Billy as having that sort of pressure on him because his last outing, in particular, was commercially unsuccessful?

A: Yes.

Q: Do you know whether there's any factual basis for that, either in the book or elsewhere?

A: I don't recall.

Q: Are you familiar with the scenes in the beginning of the movie when Tyne comes in with the Andrea Gail at the same time Linda Greenlaw is coming with the Hannah Boden?

A: Yes.

Q: And in the scene, as it develops, Billy has a rather small load of fish compared, at least, to Linda Greenlaw's load of fish, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: And there is some derision of Billy for that fact by the owner Bobby Brown, correct?

A: Frustration, yes.

Q: Well, frustration on the part of Tyne; derision on the part of Bobby Brown—

A: Yes.

Q: Do you know whether any of that has a factual basis?

A: I'm not sure.

Q: And yet that's an important scene in setting up the motivation of the crew to turn around very quickly and go back out again, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: And that's an important motivation in helping the audience understand why Billy is willing to take the boat seemingly further out than what might appear to be prudent or reasonable, out to the Flemish Cap, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Do you know whether any of that ever happened, that he went out to the Flemish Cap?

A: I don't recall.

Q: In fact, didn't you become aware that Linda Greenlaw, who was obviously in that same storm during that same time, had maintained to Warner Bros. that she was 600 miles out further than Billy ever was?

A: I don't recall.4

Q: Is it fair for me to assume that in shaping these various motivations and developing the scene, you weren't interested in telling an historically accurate story as much as creating a very dramatic effect for the audiences?

A: We were interested in creating a dramatic story that represented, in spirit, the book that we bought from Sebastian [Junger] –

Q: You were not interested in telling a factually historic account, were you?

A: It was impossible. ... Half of this story-once they're at sea, nobody knows what happened.

⁴In August, 1999, almost a year prior to the release of the Picture, Greenlaw sent a letter to the filmmakers which pointed out this and other inaccuracies in the script. Peterson Deposition at p. 77 (Doc. 116); *see* Exhibit 11A, p. 3 of Katz Deposition (Doc. 112).

Q: So therefore, you just made things up, correct?

A: We dramatized.

Q: You fictionalized.

A: As I said earlier, Sebastian hypothesized what might have happened and we dramatized that.

Q: You wouldn't say you fictionalized a good deal of those events?

A: I would say they're fictionalized.

Weinstein Deposition pp. 32-33; 36-40 (Doc. 111).

Weinstein also admitted that additional scenes, which supposedly took place between decedent Murphy and his family prior to the last voyage, were entirely fabricated⁵:

Q: Do you recall the scene with the Murphy boy, Dale Jr., coming into the bar with his dad?

A: Yes.

Q: Was that scene entirely fictionalized?

A: Yes.

Q: Do you recall the scene where Murphy is speaking to his then ex-wife, and it's a fairly tender moment, and she gives him back his child support payment saying she's got a job, "I really don't need it"? Do you remember that?

A: Yes.

Q: Was that entirely fictionalized?

A: I believe-I believe it was.

Q: Do you recall the scene where Murphy's having a father-and-son chat about the possibility that Mom may be moving on in another relationship? A: **Yes.**

⁵The counts alleging common law invasion of privacy by publication of private facts were dismissed by the trial court on the grounds that the "private facts" were not true facts, but instead were entirely fabricated. Trial Ct. Order at 10-11 (Doc.153). The dismissal of these counts was not appealed.

Q: Was that entirely fictionalized?

A: Yes.

• • •

Q: [Referring to a deposition exhibit created by the witness] Let's turn to the second page, please. Under the heading "The Crow's Nest the scene with Dale Jr. brought some levity to the first scene in the bar, as did the running sexual exploits of Alfred Pierre [another crew member]." You're talking about the scene where Murphy brings his boy into the bar to shoot some pool?

A: Yes. ... I don't know if he shoots pool, but he brings them in, yes.

Q: And again, that scene was entirely fictionalized?

A: Yes.

Q: That scene carried over to the final cut, right? We see the boy in the bar, don't we?

A: Yes.

Q: Do we even know if the boy was in the state of Massachusetts at any relevant time?

A: I don't know.

Q: Did you make any effort to find out?

A: I did not.

Weinstein Deposition at pp. 47-49 (Doc.111).

Warner originally denied any such fictionalization of the very same scenes, character portrayals and dialogue both in its Answer and in response to requests for admissions. *See* Complaint and Answer at par. 29 (Docs. 133, 136); Warner's Response to Request for Admissions (Doc. 105).

In its Fifth Affirmative Defense, Warner specifically denied that it had knowledge of these now admitted fictionalizations. *See* Answer at p. 9 (Doc. 136).

The evidence proves otherwise. In a March 16, 2000 memo to Warner's marketing executives, Bradley Ball and Dawn Taubin, from Warner's vice president of publicity, John Dartigue, Warner executives discussed at length certain "filmmaker concerns" prior to the film's release:

"They [referring to the filmmakers] do feel... that we may be open to criticism for the changes they made in the nature of the characters and in various events... Gail Katz [producer and partner of director Wolfgang Peterson] told me they did not do a lot of research; they went by the little tidbits they heard here and there. ...Dramatic license was taken with almost every character, principal and secondary. Billy Tyne [and others] for example, are different on screen from what they were/are in real life. Ditto the members of the crew, where one person's trait[s] may have been assigned to another because it worked better. The filmmakers were seeking to capture types, not specifics of actual people." [Added] [Previously excerpted in Doc. 97, pp. 5-6].

Warner Inter-office memo at p. 1 (Doc. S-1, filed under seal 4/26/02).

The full extent of the fictionalization was so pervasive and substantial as to confuse even Warner executives and Peterson himself, as to which portions were fictionalized. Nonetheless, Warner remained intent on marketing the film as a true story, knowing that the vast majority of the film's intended audience would have not read the book and, thus, would be unaware of the film's falsifications⁶. Consider the

⁶Warner conducted audience screenings prior to the release of the Picture to gauge potential audience reaction. The screenings confirmed that more than 90% of the target audience had not read the book. Ball Deposition, pp. 14-16 (Doc.

testimony of Bradley Ball, Warner's President of Domestic Marketing:

Q: Were you aware, as you saw the first cut of the film, of any factual differences between the film that you saw and the book, as you read it? A: Nothing that I could point to other than the obvious fact that the book is significantly more detailed and longer than the movie could ever afford to be.

• • •

Q: Did you plan on marketing the film as a true story, or something along those lines?

A: It was very important to us to market the film based on a true story and based on the history that took place relative to the magnitude of the storm and the people involved and not as fiction or something that was, you know, in the mind-set of a great screenwriter. [Emphasis added].

. . .

Q: And 90 percent of the people would have no way of knowing whatever deviations may have existed between what's portrayed in the film versus what was portrayed in the book?

A: Probably 90 percent of the audience would have no way of knowing anything about the story, deviations or not.

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