IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1251

ERICA TYNE, ET AL.,

Plaintiffs/Movants,

vs.

TIME WARNER ENTERTAINMENT CO., L.P., ET AL.

Defendants/Respondents.

On a Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit Case No. 02-13281

DEFENDANTS'/RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP Gregg D. Thomas James J. McGuire 100 N. Tampa St., Suite 4100 Tampa, FL 33602 (813) 227-8500 (813) 229-0134 (Facsimile)

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

fiction "holding itself out as truth," was rejected under almost identical

circumstances in the *Loft* decision.⁷

In the more-than twenty years since *Loft* was decided, no Florida state or federal court ever has doubted its correctness.⁸ In fact, shortly after *Loft* was decided, the

⁸ Plaintiff's contention that the *Loft* decision was questioned by *Facchina v. Mutual Benefits Corp.*, 735 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) is baseless. In *Facchina*, the plaintiff brought a Section 540.08 claim and alleged that the defendant published advertisements containing his photograph in periodicals directed to the homosexual community and that the advertisements implied that he was homosexual and had AIDS. *Facchina*, 735 So. 2d at 500-01. The trial court dismissed the complaint based on Florida's economic loss rule ("ELR") because the plaintiff sought purely economic losses, which cannot be recovered in tort where such damages arise from a breach of contract. *Id*. at 501. (continued...)

11	

⁷ Moreover, as discussed *infra*, Section 540.08 itself never mentions "fictionalization" or "falsity" because falsity is not an element of a Section 540.08 claim. *See* Fla. Stat. § 540.08 (2000). Plaintiffs' suggestion that falsity is key to the statute's application simply has no support in the statute itself or in any reported Florida case construing the statute.

Eleventh Circuit itself expressly agreed with *Loft* that Section 540.08 does not apply to use of a person's name in an expressive work, even if that work is sold for profit. *See Valentine v. C.B.S., Inc.*, 698 F.2d 430, 433 (11th Cir. 1983). In *Valentine*, the plaintiff sued for the unauthorized use of her name in a song by Bob

Dylan that concerned the murder trial of prizefighter Rubin "Hurricane" Carter.

The song's lyrics described the plaintiff's role as a witness to the murder.

Consistent with Loft, the Valentine Court held that the "[u]se of a name is not

harmful simply because it is included in a publication sold for profit." Id.

Moreover, the appellate court specifically considered the proper scope of Section

540.08 and held that by construing the statute to prevent only the use of a person's

name "to directly promote a product or service," the district court "properly

construed the statute." Id. (emphasis added).

Indeed, since *Loft* was decided, every reported case from a Florida state or federal court considering the scope of Section 540.08 has agreed that it prohibits only the unauthorized use of a person's name or likeness "to directly promote a product or service." *See, e.g., Lane v. MRA Holdings, LLC*, 242 F. Supp. 2d 1205, 1212 (M.D. Fla. 2002) (Section 540 prohibits "using a person's name or likeness to directly promote a product or service"); *Epic Metals Corp. v. CONDEC, Inc.*, 867

^{(...}continued)

The court of appeal reversed, holding that the ELR, as a judge-made rule, cannot be applied to limit the *remedies* available by statute. *Id.* at 502. The court never addressed the question of what a plaintiff must prove to establish *liability* under Section 540.08. In fact, the court expressly stated that "we limit our decision to the ELR issue only and do not address the legal sufficiency of the pleading, the nature of any defenses thereto, or the proof needed to sustain it." *Id.* at 502 n.4. *Facchina* did not even mention the *Loft* decision, let alone cast doubt on it.

F. Supp. 1009, 1016 (M.D. Fla. 1994) ("Florida Statute § 540.08 prevents the unauthorized use of a name or personality to directly promote the product or service of the publisher"); *National Football League v. The Alley, Inc.*, 624 F.

Supp. 6, 10 (S.D. Fla. 1983) ("Section 540.08 of the Florida Statutes prohibit [sic]

unconsented use of an individual's name and likeness only when such directly

promotes a commercial product or service").9

The foregoing unbroken line of authority delineating the scope of Section 540.08 is

consistent with the historical development of the tort of commercial

misappropriation in the United States. In 1977, the Restatement (Second) of Torts

expressly identified this tort as the "use of the plaintiff's name or likeness to

advertise the defendant's business or product, or for some similar commercial

purpose." Restatement (Second) Torts § 652C, cmt. b (1977).

Similarly, the Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition states that, without

⁹ Plaintiffs argue that the *Loft* construction of the statute is too narrow. *See* Movants' Initial Brief at 39 n.18. This is not true. Under *Loft*, the statute correctly prohibits the improper commercial exploitation of an individual's name or likeness, and does so without violating the First Amendment. For example, the following uses would be prohibited under *Loft*:

^{• &}lt;u>Advertisements or Commercials</u>. If a seller of automobiles uses a photograph of deceased race car driver Dale Earnhardt in an advertisement for the seller's automobiles, that use would violate Section 540.08 because it is an unauthorized use that promotes the seller's products. Such a prohibition is constitutionally sound.

^{• &}lt;u>Placement of a Name on a Product</u>. If the Nike Corporation, without permission, sells a basketball shoe called the "Shaquille O'Neal Sneaker," such use of Shaquille O'Neal's name violates Section 540.08. Even if the name is not used in advertisements themselves, its placement on the product promotes the product and therefore violates the statute. This construction of Section 540.08 would not violate the constitution.

^{• &}lt;u>Use of a Photograph on a Product</u>. If a photographer takes a picture of a baby, without authorization from the baby's parents, and that picture is used by Gerber on a jar of baby food, the use violates Section 540.08. While there may not be an advertisement involved, the use of the baby's picture on the jar of baby food plainly has the purpose of inducing (*i.e.*, promoting) sales of the baby food.

permission, a person's name or likeness may not be used "for purposes of trade": *i.e.*, they may not be used "in advertising the user's goods or services, or [] placed on merchandise marketed by the user, or . . . used in connection with services rendered by the user." *See* Restatement (Third) Unfair Competition § 47 (1995). However, the Restatement expressly excludes the use of a person's identity "in news reporting, commentary, entertainment, works of fiction or nonfiction, or in advertising that is incidental to such uses." *Id.* Consequently, the Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition and the Restatement (Second) of Torts, reaffirm Section 540.08's scope as articulated in *Loft* and its progeny. This Court should not disturb this sound line of reasoning which makes it clear that Section 540.08 does not apply to the facts of this case because Plaintiffs do not allege that Warner

Bros. ever used their names or their relatives' names to directly promote any

product or service.¹⁰

¹⁰ Plaintiffs contend that the Ninth Circuit's decision in Solano v. Playgirl, Inc., 292 F.3d 1078 (9th Cir. 2002), demonstrates that proof of "extraneous product endorsement" is not necessary to support a Section 540.08 claim. See Movants' Initial Brief at 41-43. This assertion is wrong. First, Solano was decided under California law, Cal. Civ. Code Section 3344, not Florida law. Section 3344 was amended by the California Legislature in 1984 to broaden its scope beyond that of Section 540.08 by "eliminating the requirement that the misappropriation must occur in a product advertisement, endorsement or solicitation." Solano, 292 F.3d at 1089 n. 7. Second, the facts of *Solano* are completely inapposite. In *Solano*, the Ninth Circuit reversed summary judgment for defendant on a misappropriation cause of action, where defendant published a shrink-wrapped issue of its magazine with a cover promising nude pictures of plaintiff, when in fact the magazine contained no such pictures. Id. at 1080, 1088-90. Whereas the Solano defendants implied the plaintiff's personal participation in the magazine, there are no allegations or evidence in this case that Warner Bros. ever implied the personal participation of Plaintiffs in the Picture.

II. Section 540.08 Must Be Construed So As To Protect Expression And Thereby Avoid Constitutional Conflict

Applying pertinent rules of statutory construction to Section 540.08 will lead to the same result reached by the *Loft* Court, that Section 540.08 does not apply to expressive works. Those rules are discussed in detail below. *See infra* Section III. In addition, however, as *Loft* recognized, it is a fundamental canon of construction in Florida that "a statute should be construed in such a manner as to avoid conflict with the Constitution." *Schultz v. State*, 361 So. 2d 416, 418 (Fla. 1978). *See also St. Mary's Hosp., Inc. v. Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d 961, 972 (Fla. 2000); *State v. Mozo*, 655 So. 2d 1115, 1117 (Fla. 1995); *Loft*, 408 So. 2d at 623.

In *Loft*, the Court specifically rejected the broad reading of the word "commercial" proposed by the plaintiffs because such a reading "would result in a substantial confrontation between this statute and the first amendment to the United States Constitution guaranteeing freedom of the press and of speech." *Loft*, 408 So. 2d at 623. The Eleventh Circuit reached the same conclusion in *Valentine*. *See Valentine*, 698 F.2d at 433 ("an interpretation that the statute absolutely bars the use of an individual's name without consent for any purpose would raise grave questions as to constitutionality").

As recognized in *Loft*, the most important objective in a case of this kind is to construe Section 540.08 in a manner consistent with the First Amendment and Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution. There are two ways to do that: (1) by finding, as *Loft* did, that the use of real persons' names in films, books and other expressive works is not a trade, commercial or advertising use; or (2) by

1	5
T	J

holding that even if Section 540.08(1) applies to expressive works, the Picture is exempted from liability under Section 540.08(3)(a) because it involves a "presentation have a current and legitimate public interest." The federal district court in this case correctly held that the Picture was protected against Plaintiffs' claims on both of these grounds. *See Tyne*, 204 F. Supp. 2d at 1341-43.

A. Motion Pictures, Whether Factual, Fictional, Or A Combination Of The Two, Are Protected By The First Amendment

Motion pictures are unquestionably protected by the First Amendment. *See, e.g., Joseph Burstyn, Inc. v. Wilson,* 343 U.S. 495, 501 (1952). Indeed, entertainment

generally as a form of creative expression is entitled to full constitutional protection.¹¹ Despite this clear authority, Plaintiffs contend that Section 540.08 applies, and that the Picture does not enjoy constitutional protection, because it contains fictional dialogue and events. *See* Movants' Initial Brief at 47-48. In fact, consistent precedent establishes that First Amendment protections apply regardless

of the presence, absence, or extent of fictional material in a motion picture.

In *Guglielmi v. Spelling-Goldberg Prod.*, 603 P.2d 454 (Cal. 1979), the court flatly rejected the plaintiffs' claim that the use of Rudolph Valentino's name in a

¹¹ See, e.g., Guglielmi v. Spelling-Goldberg Prod., 603 P.2d 454, 458-59 ("Our courts have often observed that entertainment is entitled to the same constitutional protection as the exposition of ideas. That conclusion rests on two propositions. First, '[t]he line between the informing and the entertaining is too elusive for the protection of the basic right. Everyone is familiar with instances of propaganda through fiction. What is one man's amusement, teaches another doctrine.' [citation omitted]. Second, entertainment, as a mode of self-expression, is entitled to constitutional protection irrespective of its contribution to the marketplace of ideas.").

fictionalized movie about Valentino violated the "right of publicity":¹² "any assertion that fictional accounts pose a unique threat to the right of publicity not found in truthful reports is simply not justified." *Id.* at 461 (concurring opinion by majority of justices). The court rejected the very same claim made by Plaintiffs in this case, that the creator of a motion picture loses all First Amendment protection when he knowingly includes fictional material in a film depicting "real people." The constitutional safeguards protecting fictional speech were similarly affirmed in *Seale v. Gramercy Pictures*, 949 F. Supp. 331 (E.D. Pa. 1996). In that case,

Bobby Seale, one of the co-founders of the Black Panther movement, brought a commercial misappropriation claim based on a movie titled *Panther*, a

"docudrama" which "combine[d] fiction with history." *Id.* at 334-35. The court rejected the plaintiff's argument that the fictional elements deprived the film of First Amendment protection: "The Defendants' use of the Plaintiff's name and likeness was for the purpose of First Amendment expression: the creation, production, and promotion of a motion picture and history book which integrates fictitious people

and events with the historical people and events" Id. at 337.

And, in Ruffin-Steinback v. dePasse, 82 F. Supp. 2d 723, 726 (E.D. Mich. 2000),

aff'd, 267 F.3d 457 (6th Cir. 2001), the plaintiffs argued that use of their names in a

partially fictional movie about the musical group the Temptations violated their

rights of publicity. Based on the First Amendment, the court rejected the argument,

¹² Courts generally use one of two labels for the tort at issue in this case: either "commercial misappropriation" or "right of publicity." Both are used interchangeably in this Brief.

stating "[t]he scope of the right of publicity does not depend . . . on the fictional or non-fictional character of the work." *Id.* at 730.

In each of these cases rejecting commercial misappropriation claims, the courts refused to base their decisions on the degree of fictionalization, if any, in the works. Rather, the courts recognized that they are not suited "to pass on literary categories, or literary judgment." *Frosch v. Grosset & Dunlap, Inc.*, 427 N.Y.S.2d 828, 829 (N.Y. App. Div. 1980) ("It is enough that the book is a literary work and not simply a disguised commercial advertisement for the sale of goods or services."). As a result, First Amendment considerations "are no less relevant whether the work in question is fictional, non-fictional or a combination of the two." *Ruffin-Steinback*, 82 F. Supp. 2d at 730.

Consistent with *Loft*, the federal district court in this case avoided possible conflict with the First Amendment by construing Section 540.08 so as not to apply to expressive works – such as the Picture – regardless of whether they are factual, fictional, or a combination of the two. As this Court explained in *Schultz v. State*, statutes must be construed so as to avoid constitutional infirmities – a problem precisely inherent in Plaintiffs' proposed reading of Section 540.08. *See Schultz*,

361 So. 2d at 418. The Loft approach – finding that Section 540.08 is not

¹³ See also *Matthews v. Wozencraft*, 15 F.3d 432, 440 (5th Cir. 1994) (The defendant's book "falls within the protection of the First Amendment. It is immaterial whether [the book] 'is viewed as an historical or a fictional work."") (internal quotation omitted); *Taylor v. National Broad. Co.*, 22 Media L. Rep. 2433, 2437 (Cal. Sup. Ct. 1994) ("Constitutional protection is not limited to factual works but is extended to all expressive works, whether factual or fictional").

	8
_	

¹³

applicable to motion pictures – appropriately follows the foregoing line of authority

and is a clear and sensible method of avoiding constitutional conflict.

B. *The Perfect* Storm is Exempt Under Section 540.08(3) Because The Picture Is Clearly A "Presentation Having A Current And Legitimate Public Interest"

Even if this Court were to find that Section 540.08(1) applies to the use of

names and likenesses in expressive works, Plaintiffs' claims would fail because the

Picture is protected by the exemptions contained in Section 540.08(3)(a). Indeed,

the federal district court so held, as an alternative ground for granting summary

judgment. See Tyne, 204 F. Supp. 2d at 1342.

Section 540.08(3)(a) states that the statute does not apply to:

The publication, printing, display, or use of the name or likeness of any person in any newspaper, magazine, book, news broadcast or telecast, *or* other news medium or publication as part of any bona fide news report *or* presentation having a current and legitimate public interest and where such name or likeness is not used for advertising purposes.

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